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Hyde Amendment Appeals Should Be
Reviewed For Abuse Of Discr etion

InUnited Statesv. Lindberg, 220 F.3d 1120 (9" Cir. 2000),
the Ninth Circuit held the standard of review;of a federal
district court’sdenia of acriminal defendant’s motion for
atorney’s fees and litigation costs pursuant to the Hyde
Amendment, 18 U.S.C. 8 3006A, isfor abuse of discretion.
Moreover, the court determined in order to_recover
expenses, a defendant must show more than the
government’ s position was not “substantially justified," the
standard for recovery under the Hyde Amendment’s civil
counterpart, the Equal Access to Justice Act (EAJA), 28
U.S.C. §2412(d)(1)(A).

In 1997, Lindberg was convicted of conspiracy to defraud
the government of federal incometaxesandto structureand
assistin structuring currency transactionsfor the purpose of
evading reporting requirements. The prosecution was
premised on ascheme emplayed by Lindberg’ s mother, the
owner of several "hostessbars" inHonolulu, wherethrough
the assistance of her children, she orchestrated the
structuring of cash recei ptsfrom her businessesinto various
bank accounts. On appeal, the Ninth Circuit reversed
Lindberg's conspiracy conviction citing insufficient
evidenceto prove he knew tax evasion wasthe object of the
conspiracy or that he knew it was illegal to structure
currency transactions to avoid reporting requirements.
Subsequently, he filed a motion pursuant to the Hyde

Amendment. seeking attorney’s fees and litigation costs.
Thedistrict court denied his motion, noting that although
theNinth Circuit concluded the evidencewasinsufficient to
convict him, it was sufficient

for the grand jury. to-indict, for the district court to deny a
motion for acquittal and for the jury to convict. Hence, the
government’s prosecution (of him was not "vexatious,
frivolous; and or in bad faith," the standards for recovery
under the Hyde Amendment.

On appeal, the Ninth Circuit addressed the issue of what is
the correct standard of review to apply to appeals under the
Hyde Amendment? The court found guidance from the
Eleventh  Circuit which had noted in United States v.
Gilbert, 198 F.3d 1293 (11" Cir. 1999), that under the Hyde
Amendment, an award of attorney’s fees "shall be granted
pursuant tothe procedures and limitations (but not the
burdenof proof) provided for an award under the EAJA."
ld-at 1297-98 (quoting 18 U.S.C. 8 3006A). Therefore,
because the denial of an award of attorney’ sfees under the
EAJA'isreviewed for an abuse of discretion, so should the
denial-of an award under the Hyde Amendment. 1d. The
Fourth Circuit also adopted this conclusion in In re 1997
Grand Jury, 214 F.3d 430.(4™ Cir. 2000). However, it was
the Fifth Circuit’s rationale in United States v. Truesdale,
211 F.3d 898 (5" Cir. 2000), which the Ninth Circuit found
to be most _persuasive in reaching the same conclusion.
There; the court opined the abuse of discretion standard
should be employed because "district courts are well
situated to evaluate the government’s case and need
flexibility to develop a workable standard for what
congtitutesavexatious, frivolous, or bad faith position.” Id.
at 906. Emphasizing these sentiments, the Ninth Circuit




said the district court "isin a better position than this court
to distinguish between a good faith prosecution which is
thin on evidence and a prosecution so lacking in support it
can only be vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith."

Next the Ninth Circuit turned to the burden of proof
required under the Hyde Amendment. The court concluded
the legidative history behind the enactment of the Hyde
Amendment "clearly illustrates" thestandard for recovering
fees under the Amendment is more demanding than under
the EAJA. Thisundermined Lindberg’s argument that in
order to prevail, he only had to show the government’s
position was not "substantially justified,” the standard for
recovery under the EAJA.

Ethical Rule Prohibiting Ex Parte
Communications Applies In Pre-Indictment,
Non-Custodial Setting

In United States v. Talao, 222 F.3d 1133 (9" Cir. 2000),
the Ninth Circuit refrained from creating a bright line rule
that would restrict the ethical prohibition against ex parte
communications between federal prosecutors and
represented parties to only post-indictment or custodial
settings. Indeed, the court determined the rule was
applicable in a pre-indictment situation where the
government and target corporation had clearly assumed
adversarial roles, grand jury proceedings were impending,
and the corporation’s counsel had initiated settlement talks
with the government regarding both its civil and criminal
investigations. The court, however, reversed the district
court’s finding that an Assistant United States Attorney
(“AUSA”) had violated the rule by a pre-indictment
interview outside the presence of corporate counsel of an
employee of the target corporation, when the employee
said she was being pressured by the owner of the
corporation to provide false testimony to the grand jury.

At issue on appeal was the applicability of Rule 2-100 of
the California Rules of Professional Conduct which bars
ex parte communications with represented parties. Here,
the employment practices of the subject corporation gave
rise to a union grievance, a complaint to the Department
of Labor, a qui tam action, and, ultimately, a criminal
investigation by the Department of Justice. Prior to
indictment, the corporation’s lawyer contacted the AUSA
assigned to the case to discuss settlement of the
government’s civil and criminal investigation. When the
owner of the corporation learned the corporation’s
bookkeeper had been subpoenaed to testify before the
grand jury, he instructed the corporate lawyer to meet with
her and be present during her testimony. On the day of
her grand jury appearance, the bookkeeper arrived at the

federal building ahead of the corporation’s lawyer and
encountered the AUSA handling the case. The
bookkeeper intimated she did not wish to be represented
by the corporation’s lawyer. When the AUSA asked why,
the bookkeeper revealed the owner of the corporation had
instructed her to lie to the grand jury and she believed the
lawyer’s presence was to intimidate her into providing
false testimony. The discussion then turned into a formal
interview in which the bookkeeper provided further
instances of corporate wrongdoing.

In rejecting the district court’s finding that the AUSA had
committed an ethical violation, the Ninth Circuit began by
stating the applicability of Rule 2-100 in pre-indictment,
non-custodial settings must be determined on a case by
case basis. See United States v. Hammad, 858 F.2d 834
(2™ Cir. 1988). Here, in view of the “fully defined
adversarial roles” assumed by the parties, the AUSA’s
contact with the bookkeeper was governed by Rule 2-100.
The court, however, went on to opine “[w]e deem
manifest that when an employee/party of a defendant
corporation initiates communications with an attorney for
the government for the purpose of disclosing that
corporate officers are attempting to suborn perjury and
obstruct justice, Rule 2-100 does not bar discussions
between the employee and the attorney.” Additionally,
the court stated, once the employee of a corporation comes
forward to give truthful information concerning potential
criminal activity, a “clear conflict of interest exists
between the employee and the corporation.” This conflict
serves a dual purpose for it extinguishes the ability of the
corporate counsel to represent both the employee and the
corporation and, most significantly, deprives the
corporation of a basis to invoke the rule against ex parte
communications with respect to the employee.

EVIDENCE

Unfiled Tax Returns Admissible
To Show Willfulness

In United States v. Chmielewski, 218 F.3d 840 (8" Cir.
2000), the Eighth Circuit affirmed Chmielewski's
conviction and sentence for violations of 31 U.S.C.
§ 5324(8)(3), 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1) and 18 U.S.C. 8§88 371
and 1001. Chmielewski sold slot machinesto customersin
the Republic of South Africa between 1993 and 1995. To
aid hiscustomersin avoiding the duty imposed by the South
African government, Chmielewski sent them false sales
invoicesgrossly understating the value of the slot machines
they wereimporting. Likewise, Chmielewski sent thefalse




invoices to his United States freight forwarders who filled
out the required documentation for United States Customs.
Finally, Chmielewski used unfiled tax returns reflecting
higher income than the ones he actualy filed with the
Internal Revenue Service to secure bank loans.

On appeal, in regard to his tax conviction, Chmielewski
argued thedistrict court erred in admitting evidence of prior
bad acts by admitting unfiled tax returns pursuant to Fep. R.
of Evip. 404(b). In regjecting Chmielewski’s argument, the
Eighth Circuit followed its prior holding that evidence of a
taxpayer's prior misconduct with tax returns may be
relevant evidence of willfulness. See, United States v.
Upton, 799 F.2d 432, 433 (8" Cir. 1986). As such, the
district court did not abuseitsdiscretion whenit allowed the
government to show Chmielewski used false returns to
misrepresent his income as evidence of Chmielewski’s
willfulness to violate the tax laws.

PRIVILEGES

Crime Fraud Exception

InIn re Sealed Case, 223 F.3d 775 (D.C. Cir. 2000), the
D.C. Circuit held the government cannot force alawyer to
produce a client’s privileged documents to a grand jury
under the crime fraud exception if the client's claimed
offense does not constitute a crime. The instant appeal
evolved from apreviousappeal by the Republican National
Committee ("RNC") of an order requiring it to produce an
RNC lawyer’ swritten material on groundsit wasrelated to
agrand jury investigation into whether a loan repayment
transaction amounted to solicitation and receipt of foreign
contributionsby theRNC inviolation of campaign lawsand
whether the RNC conspired to defraud the United States by
failing to disclose the transaction.

In the previous appeal, the D.C. Circuit reversed an order
which held documents need not have been prepared in
connection with a specific claim in order to be shielded by
the work product privilege, so long as they were prepared
in anticipation of litigation. Onremand from that decision,
the district court reviewed the documents in camera and
held them subject to production under the crime fraud
exception.  The district court found the evidence
demonstrated the RNC sought the advice of counsel in an
effort to construct the transaction in a manner designed to
evade federal election campaign laws and to concea the
source of the funds used to repay the loan.

The D.C. Circuit again reversed, holding the government

failed to alege any conduct was criminal under federal
election campaign laws. The court deferred to a civil
enforcement recommendation issued by the Federa
Elections Commission ("FEC") when the loan repayment
was before it. By a 3-3 deadlock, the FEC found no
probable cause to believe the RNC had violated the law.
The FEC's interpretation of the federal campaign laws
invalidated the government’ s theories about how the RNC
may have violated those laws. Since the government’s
theories were faulty, it was legally impossible for the
government to accuse the RNC of conspiring to defraud or
commit an offense against the United States, thusthereisno
crime fraud exception.

Crime Fraud Exception

In In re Grand Jury Subpoena, 223 F.3d 213 (3" Cir.
2000), the Third Circuit held a grand jury target whose
attorney had been subpoenaed to testify against him and
produce documents which would ordinarily be privileged
was not entitled to review an ex parte affidavit in which the
government asserted the crime fraud exception to the
attorney client privilege. . The affidavit which had been
filed to establish the applicability of the crime fraud
exception to the attorney client privilege, contained details
of the grand jury investigation. The target contended
without seeing the affidavit, he and counsel could not
effectively rebut the crime fraud exception. The Third
Circuitrejected thetarget'sreliance on casesrecognizing the
right to view such affidavitsin adversarial proceedingsand
concluded all of the target’s arguments for access to the
affidavit failed on the fact grand jury proceedings are
investigative rather than adversarial.

The court pointed out it has consistently endorsed the use of
ex parte affidavits and in camera proceedings to preserve
grand jury secrecy when the government must present
information beyond the minima requirements of In re
Grand Jury Proceedings (Schofield), 486 F.2d 85 (3" Cir.
1073). In Schofidd, the Third Circuit required the
government to justify a grand jury subpoena by making
some preliminary showing by affidavit that each item was
at least relevant to agrand jury investigation and properly
withinitsjurisdiction. The government followed Schofield
inthis case by making its casefor the crime fraud exception
in an ex parte affidavit.

The defendant relied on Haines v. Ligget Group Inc., 957
F.2d 81 (3" Cir. 1992), which held in the context of civil
litigation, the party invoking the attorney client privilege
must be given an opportunity to rebut the opponent’s prima
facie showing in support of the crimefraud exception. The
court, however, distinguished Haines emphasizing it was
adversariadl while the instant case remained in the




investigative stage. In the grand jury context, secrecy
assumes primary importance. Thecourt rejectedthetarget's
argument that the length of theinvestigation (two years), as
well as public knowledge of the nature of the investigation,
required thedistrict court to order disclosure of the ex parte
affidavit. The court concluded it was neither an abuse of
discretion nor aviolation of due processfor adistrict court
torely on ex parte affidavitsto determine whether the crime
fraud exception applies. The court cited other opinions
from the Second and Tenth Circuits supporting the same
conclusion. The investigative nature of the proceedings
also led the court to reject an argument based on the Sixth
Amendment’s provision of right to counsel. The target
contended compliance with the subpoena would lead to
counsdl's disqudification and, thus, effectively infringe
upon hisright to counsel. The court pointed out thetarget's
right to counsel had not attached and the possibility of
eventual disgualification was merely speculative at this
point.

FORFEITURES

Civil Forfeiture Valid And Not Excessive
Even Though Underlying Structuring
Charge Was Rever sed

In United States v. Ahmad, 213 F.3d 805 (4™ Cir. 2000),
the Fourth Circuit reversed the district court’ s holding that
funds seized from Ahmad were not subject to forfeiture.
Ahmad operated a money exchange business and used the
funds he received from his Pakistani clients in the United
States to supply bridge loans to various Pakistani
companies. Thecompanieswouldrepay thebridgeloansby
distributing rupees to the family members of Ahmad's
clients. Following a conversation with a bank officer in
1989, Ahmad structured all of his cash depositsin amounts
less than $10,000.00 to avoid the filing of currency
transaction reports. From 1990 to 1993, Ahmad deposited
$5.6 million in cash, cashier’s checks and wire transfers.

The Fourth Circuit affirmed Ahmad’s customs fraud and
related conspiracy convictions, but reversed Ahmad's
convictions for structuring and conspiring to structure
deposits to evade the reporting requirements because the
government failed to prove Ahmad “wilfully” violated the
anti-structuring statute, 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3). Ahmad
thenfiledfor return of the seized fundsand, in response, the
government filed an action for civil forfeiture of the
$186,587.42 seized. Thedistrict court entered judgment in
favor of Ahmad finding no statutory basisfor theforfeiture
and concluded the forfeiture would have, in any event,
constituted an excessive fine.

On appeal, the government contended the $85,000.00 was
forfeitable because it was directly traceable to the
structuring violations and the $101,587.42 was forfeitable
as a substitute for property involved in the customs fraud
violations and, the entire amount did not constitute an
excessive fine in violation of the Eighth Amendment. In
reversing the district court, the Fourth Circuit addressed
each of the government’ s contentions separately.

First, the court addressed the validity of the forfeiture for
structuring. The court found, although willfulness was a
requirement for violations of the anti-structuring statute at
the time Ahmad was prosecuted, and although the charges
against Ahmad had been reversed for lack of willfulness,
the government could still obtain forfeiture of the $85,000
on grounds of structuring because under 31 U.S.C. § 5322,
Congress provided for civil forfeiture without awillfulness
requirement.

Second, the court addressed the validity of theforfeiturefor
customs fraud violations. The court found, Ahmad's
conviction for customs fraud and for conspiracy commit
customs fraud satisfied the government’s burden of
demonstrating probabl e causethat acustomsfraud violation
had occurred and entitled it to civil forfeiture of the
$101,587.42.

Finally, the Fourth Circuit found the property was
forfeitable only if the forfeiture did not constitute an
excessive fine prohibited by the Eighth Amendment. The
court turned to the Supreme Court's “grossly
disproportional” analysis in United Sates v. Bajakajian,
524 U.S. 321 (1998), to determine whether the forfeiturein
this case was excessive. Bajakajian’s “grossly
disproportional” analysis required the consideration of
severa factors including the nature and extent of the
criminal activity, its relation to other crimes, its penalties
and the harm it caused.

Applying a “grossly disproportional” analysis to the
forfeiture for structuring, the court found Ahmad’s
structuring violations were not a single isolated untruth
affecting only the government, but rather a series of
sophisticated commercid transactionsover aperiod of years
which were related to a customs fraud scheme. Thus, the
forfeiture of $85,000.00 was not grossly disproportiona to
that offense. The court found the remaining forfeiture of
$101,587.42 for customs fraud aso was not grossly
disproportional because the customs violations also were
not asingleisolated crime. They weredirectly related totax
fraud because the company president used inflated invoices
unlawfully in filing his tax returns. They were also
indirectly related to Ahmad’s structuring violations and
caused the government to lose approximately $370,000.00
of tax revenuesin 1990 and 1991.




Government Not Held To Actual Notice
Standard Where Property Owner 1s Not
I ncar cerated

In Krecioch v. United States, 221 F.3d 976 (7" Cir. 2000),
Krecioch filed a collateral attack on the administrative
forfeitures in district court and argued the DEA deprived
him of due process by failing to provide actual notice of the
pending proceedings when he was jailed. Krecioch was
charged with federal narcotics offenses and offered a plea
bargain. Two days before he accepted the deal and had his
bond revoked, the DEA mailed to his home, notices of
forfeiture action against cash and automobiles seized from
him. A month later, the DEA mailed to Krecioch’ shomea
notice of forfeiture proceedings against handguns also
seized from him even though DEA knew of his
incarceration and had sent notice of another forfeitureaction
to him at the jail where hewas detained. Krecioch argued
the DEA agent who appeared at his pleahearing could have
served him with notice of the forfeitures. Krecioch relied
on United Sates v. Cupples, 112 F.3d 318, 320 (8" Cir.
1997) which held actual notice was required when "the
government is prosecuting someone who is actively
contesting the criminal charges against him, including a
count of the indictment seeking forfeiture."

In considering Krecioch’'s arguments, the Seventh Circuit
stated, under established principles of due process, a party
is only entitled to notice that is reasonably calculated to
aert him to the pendency of the action so as to afford him
an opportunity to present an objection. Due process does
not require authorities to use the best possible method of
notification.

In this case, at the time the notices regarding the cars and
cash were sent, there was no way the DEA could have
known Krecioch was going to accept a plea agreement and
have his bond revoked. The court held, therefore, mailing
thenoticesto Krecioch’ shomewasreasonableand personal
service was not required. The Seventh Circuit disagreed
with the degree to which Cupples required actual notice
even when the claimant is free and available at his home
address because due process only requires that the
government reasonably believe that notice would be likely
to reach the claimant. Based on this, the Seventh Circuit
affirmed the district court’ s grant of summary judgment as
tothe cash and automobiles. The Seventh Circuit, however,
vacated an order of summary judgment as to the handguns
because it found the notices inadequate. The Seventh
Circuit found the notices relating to the forfeiture of the
handguns which were sent to Krecioch’s home after the
DEA knew hewasincarcerated did not satisfy due process.

MONEY LAUNDERING

Depositing of Checks Obtained in Fraud
Scheme Violated 18 U.S.C. § 1957

In United Statesv. Cefaratti, 221 F.3d 502 (3" Cir. 2000),
the Third Circuit held a beauty school owner’ s deposits of
financia aid checks for the tuition of ineligible students
constituted money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1957. Cefaratti pled guilty to mail fraud, student loan
fraud, destruction of property to prevent seizure and to
engaging in monetary transactionsin property derived from
specified unlawful activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1957, arising from his execution of a scheme to defraud
the United States Department of Education ("DOE") out of
student financial assistance funds. Cefaratti implemented
a scheme to maintain his DOE financial aide digibility by
submitting fal sedeferment and forbearanceformsto student
loan lenders and by making payments on behalf of student
borrowers who were on the verge of defaulting. In over a
two year period, Cefaratti’s beauty school received over
$840,000.00 in federal funds to which it was not entitled.

On appeal, Cefaratti argued the superseding information
was deficient because it failed to charge an essentia
element of an 18 U.S.C. § 1957 offense, that the funds
involved in the monetary transaction constituted or were
derived from proceeds obtained from specified unlawful
activity. The Third Circuit determined the information
tracked the statutory language when it alleged Cefaratti
knowingly engaged in monetary transactions in criminally
derived property valued over $10,000.00. The court found
the mail fraud to which Cefaratti plead guilty was
completed when he mailed fraudulent materials in
furtherance of his scheme to defraud. Thus, when he
engaged in monetary transactions with the proceeds of the
criminal activity after the completion of the mail fraud,
Cefaratti’ s actions fell within the statue. Further, the loan
checks made payable to both Cefaratti and the students
became criminaly derived property when they were
endorsed by the student borrowers and any subsequent
monetary transactions, including depositing the checks,
violated 18 U.S.C. § 1957.

Transaction Involving Commingled Funds




Supports Conviction Under 18 U.S.C. § 1957

In United States v. Davis, 226 F.3d 346 (5" Cir. 2000),
Davis was convicted of, inter alia, three counts of money
laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957. His
convictions arose from the operation of an advance fee
scheme, wherein Daviswould offer to obtain funding inthe
form of venture capital for clients in return for a fee.
Typically, clients would approach Davis seeking between
$75 to $100 million. Based on fraudulent representations,
Davis would contract to secure the funding for an average
feeof $100,000.00. Once Davisreceived thefee, hewould
deposit the proceeds into various “escrow” accounts, with
no intention of ever securing any future funding. At trial,
the government alleged Davis defrauded one client into
wiring $100,000.00 into an account Davis controlled. This
“tainted” money became commingled with $18,585.55 of
“untainted” funds aready in the account. Subsequently,
Davis committed a § 1957 violation by writing a check on
the account in the amount of $25,000.00, as the issuance of
the $25,000.00 check constituted engaging in a monetary
transaction greater than $10,000.00in property derived from
the specified crime of wire fraud.

On appeal, Davis argued the $10,000.00 threshold
requirement specified in § 1957 was not met, as the
difference between the existing account balance of
untainted funds, $18,585.55, and the $25,000.00 check,
amounted to only $6,414.45 in proceeds from crimina
activity. See United States v. Adams, 74 F.3d 1093, 1101
(11" Cir. 1996) (under § 1957 there must be proof the
transaction involved more than $10,000 of tainted money).

In rejecting Davis' approach, the Fifth Circuit relied upon
a rule it had developed in previous commingling cases
dealing with the interstate transfer of funds obtained by
fraud. The court stated “when the aggregate amount
withdrawn from an account containing commingled funds
exceedsthecleanfunds, individua withdrawalsmay besaid
to be of tainted money, even if aparticular withdrawal was
less than the amount of clean money in the account.” Here,
the court looked to therecord of trial where the government
had introduced banking records showing various
withdrawals from the account in question, made after
receipt of the $100,000.00 wire transfer, totaling more than
$100,000.00. Oneof thesewithdrawal swasthe $25,000.00
check which, after it cleared the account, actually lowered
the account balance to under $14,000.00. In support of its
aggregate theory, the court cited itsprior rationalein United
States v. Heath, 970 F.2d 1397 (5" Cir. 1992), where, in
deciding whether a defendant could have engaged in a
transaction in tainted funds, the court opined “[t]o view
eachtransactioninisolation. . . would defeat the purpose of

the statute, all owing sophisticated criminal sto spirit stolen
funds from one state to another, so long as each check
written did not exceed the amount of legitimate funds on
hand in the bank account.” Id. a 1403. The court
determined the commingling problem under the money
laundering statutes was the same as under the transfer of
funds statute, and applied its own precedents, rather than
choosing between the commingling rules applied in other
circuits. Compare United Sates v. Moore, 27 F.3d 969,
976-77 (4™ Cir. 1994) (where clean and tainted money has
been commingled, any withdrawal from account is
presumed tainted under § 1957, up to amount of tainted
funds deposited), with United Sates v. Rutgard, 116 F.3d
1270, 1292 (9" Cir. 1997) (in case of commingling,
withdrawal is only shown to be tainted under § 1957 if itis
the entire balance of commingled account). Accordingly,
Davis' conviction was affirmed.

INVESTIGATIVE TECHNIQUES

Wiretap Order Invalid If Issued Prior To
Department Of Justice Authorization

In United States v. Reyna, 218 F.3d 1108 (9" Cir. 2000),
theNinth Circuit held under thelaw governing the ability of
law enforcement officials to seek judicial authority to
intercept communications, 18 U.S.C. 88 2510-2520, a
federal court order for a wiretap is invalid if it is issued
prior to securing authorization by the Attorney General or
oneof his/her designees. Accordingly, heretheinterception
of communications pursuant to such an order was unlawful
and any evidence obtained must be suppressed.

In October 1997, an Assistant United States Attorney
("AUSA") submitted to the Office of Enforcement
Operations ("OEQ") in the Criminal Division of the
Department of Justice, a draft application for an order to
i ntercept communi cationsover acellular telephoneline. An
OEO staff attorney reviewed the application and then
notified the AUSA hewould recommend itsapproval by the
appropriate Department of Justiceofficial. Priortosecuring
this authorization, however, the application and order were
brought before a federal district judge. The AUSA
informed thejudgethat written authorizationwasonitsway
but had not yet been received. Despite this, the judge
signed the order approving the, as of yet, unauthorized
application, adding in his own handwriting: "This order is
not to be executed until and unless formal approval in
writingisreceived from the United States Attorney General
or her designee.” Shortly thereafter, OEO faxed the AUSA
a memorandum authorizing the wiretap application.
Immediately, the government commenced the wiretap




operation, resulting in a 20 count indictment charging
conspiracy to manufactureand distribute methamphetamine
and related offenses. Thejudge presiding over thecriminal
case granted the defendants motion to suppress the
intercepted communications, holding the wiretap
authorization order was invalid because the government
failedto obtain therequired authorization for theapplication
before submitting it to the court for approval.

On appeal, the government contended, although it
disobeyed the statutes which set forth the mandatory
procedures required in order to obtain a wiretap order,
partial compliance sufficed to avoid the sanction of
suppression. |ndismissing thisargument, the Ninth Circuit
strictly scrutinized 18 U.S.C. § 2518 which explicitly
mandates the authorization of the Attorney General or his
designated agent must be secured prior to submitting an
application for a wiretap order for judicial approval.
Moreover, the identity of the authorizing official must be
included in the application presented to the court. These
requirements were highlighted in United Sates v.
Giordano, 416 U.S. 505, 514 (1974), where the Supreme
Court stated "it isat once apparent that [the wiretap |aw] not
only limits the crimes for which intercept authority may be
obtained but also imposes preconditions to obtaining any
intercept authority atal." 1d. Furthermore, in United Sates
v. Chavez, 416 U.S. 562 (1974), the Supreme Court opined
"failure to secure approval of [the Attorney General or her
designees] prior to making application for judicial authority
to wiretap renders the court authority invalid and the
interception of communications pursuant to that authority
‘unlawful’ within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§ 2518(10)(a)(i)." Id. at 571. As§ 2518(10)(a) provides
for the suppression of unlawfully intercepted
communications, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the holding of
the district court.

Informant Agreement

In Jarvis v. United States, 47 Fed. Cl. 698 (2000), the
Court of Federal Claimsdismissed anIRSinformant'sclaim
for areward under atax informant agreement, holding the
informant breached his agreement with the Service and,
therefore, was not entitled to areward. Jarvis entered into
an agreement with the Service under which he was to
provideinformation on taxes owed by several taxpayers. In
return, the Service agreed to pay Jarvis, a portion of the
taxescollected and not disclosehisidentity. Jarvisexpected
the Servicewould collect $100 millionintaxes. Instead, the
Service ultimately settled with the taxpayers and collected
only $23 million. Furthermore, a special agent disclosed
Jarvis' identity to the taxpayers resulting in a suit by the
taxpayers against Jarvis.

Jarvis submitted a claim for his reward to the Service, and
the Service asserted Jarvis would be entitled to $1,769,100
if hesatisfied al the contractual conditions of theinformant
agreement. The Service paid Jarvis no money and he sued
the government for breach of contract, arguing he was
entitled to at least $3 million as a reward and the Service
breached an implied covenant to collect the full amount of
taxes owed. Jarvis also sought damages in the form of
litigation costs incurred in defending himself in the
taxpayer’s civil litigation resulting from the Service's
disclosure of hisidentity. Inaprior opinion, the Court of
Federal Claims dismissed a lawsuit brought by Jarvis,
holding there was no bad faith in the Service's calculation
of his reward, the Service had no duty to maximize the
reward, and the government had no obligation to pay
litigation costsarising fromthedisclosure of theinformant’s
identity. Jarvisv. United States, No. 97-806T, 1999 TNT
114 - 15 (May 19, 1999). The Court of Federal Claimsalso
denied Jarvis' motion to reconsider its previous decision,
explaining the agreement contained no indemnification
provision and the Service was not bound by any provision
implied from the parties dealings. Jarvisv. United States,
No. 97-806T, 1999 TNT 164 - 12 (Aug. 16, 1999).

In the current proceeding, the sole issue before the court
was whether Jarvis had breached the informant agreement,
thereby making himself ineligible for a reward. The
agreement provided "the Informant shall not be entitled to
any payment under this agreement if .. .." It then goeson
to list specific disqualifying circumstances, including a
provision which states no reward is due if "payment . . .
would be inappropriate.” The government relied on this
language to bring in violations of other provisions of the
contract, specificaly, two sections which dealt with
disclosure of information and delegation of thereward. The
court held Jarvis violated these two sections by disclosing
information regarding the taxpayersto othersinvolved in a
civil suit against the taxpayers at the same time the Service
was investigating the taxpayers and agreeing to split his
reward with others who had assisted him in his dealings
with the Service. The court ultimately held, by breaching
his agreement with the Service, Jarvis was not entitled to a
reward.

Violation Of Code Of Professional
Responsibility

In In re Complaint as to the Conduct of Daniel J. Gatti,
3300re. 517 (2000), Gatti, aprivate practitioner licensed to
practice law in Oregon, while gathering facts as part of his
representation of aclient misled othersto believe he was a
medical doctor. When confronted by the Oregon Bar, Gatti
responded the State Professional Responsibility Board of
the Oregon Bar had previously held Oregon Department of




Justice lawyers who, in the course of an undercover
operation, advised " investigatorsto haveindividual sposeas
janitors and injured workers for the purpose of infiltrating
chiropractors’ and lawyers' offices to obtain information
about suspected fraudulent workers' compensation claims,”
had violated no provisions of the Oregon Code of
Professional Responsibility. Citing this holding Gatti
argued, since government attorneys can oversee undercover
operations, private practice attorneys, for the purpose of
gathering information, should be able to conduct
“investigations,” even if in doing so they mislead.

Since Gatti put into play the role of government attorneys
overseeing or rendering advice in the course of undercover
operations, both the United States Attorney for the Judicial
District of Oregon and the Attorney General for the State of
Oregonfiled amicuscuriaebriefsurging the Supreme Court
of Oregon to recognize a “prosecutorial exception” to the
Oregon Code of Professional Responsibility. In deciding
the case, the Supreme Court of Oregon rejected Gatti’s
argument as well as the positions asserted by those
government and private partieswho had filed amicuscuriae
briefs. The Supreme Court of Oregon held neither
government nor private attorneys were “. . . entitled to
misrepresent identity and purpose to gather information
without violating the [Oregon] Code of Professional
Responsibility and ORS 9.527(4)"

SENTENCING

Certainty Of Collection Of Tax Owed
By OtherslsNot Relevant To
Computation Of Tax Loss

In United States v. Andra, 218 F.3d 1106 (9" Cir. 2000),
Andra, a member of an organization called “The Pilot
Connection Society,” sold “untaxing packages’ to severa
individual sagainst whose property the Service had obtai ned
liens. Andrafalsely represented these untaxing packagesas,
being capable of permanently and legally removing any
obligation to pay income taxes or maintain records, as well
as removing the Service's levies and liens. Andra pled
guilty to conspiracy to defraud the Service and to corrupt
intimidation of andinterferencewith Serviceagents. Andra
appealed his sentence arguing the district court erred by
including in its calculation of tax loss the liabilities of the
individualsto whom he had sold untaxing packages. Andra
argued, becausethesetax liabilitieswereal ready delinquent
before Andra joined The Pilot Connection Society, the
government had failed to prove, but for Andras
involvement these individuals would have paid their tax
liabilities.

The Ninth Circuit rejected Andra’'s argument noting the
Sentencing Guidelines do not require proof of “but for”
causation in calculating tax loss. Rather the tax loss is the
total amount of loss that was the object of the offense.
Since Andra’ s plea admitted the object of the offense was
conspiracy to evade payment of back taxes owed by his
individual customers, theinclusion of their ligbilitiesin the
tax loss resulted in Andra's sentence which correctly
reflected the object of his conspiracy.

New Opinion Holds An Unchallenged
Presentence Report Constitutes Clear
And Convincing Evidence

The Ninth Circuit has issued a new opinion replacing its
previous opinion in United Sates v. Romero-Rendon, 198
F.3d 745 (9" Cir. Dec. 7, 1999). The new opinion may be
found at United States v. Romero-Rendon, 220 F.3d 1159
(9" Cir. 2000).

Romero-Rendon was arrested while trying to enter the
United Statesillegally. Computer checksrevealed he had a
crimina history in the United States and had previously
been deported. Romero-Rendon pled guilty to being a
deported alien found in the United States in violation of
8U.S.C. §1326. At hissentencing hearing, the government
requested a sixteen level enhancement since his criminal
history involved aviolent crime. Romero-Rendon objected
to the enhancement on grounds it was based only on the
Presentence Report (“PSR”), not on conviction documents.
He did not allege the PSR was inaccurate or challenge the
PSR’ s characterization of his previous crime as violent.

On appeal, Romero-Rendon argued the government should
be required to prove his previousviolent crime by clear and
convincing evidence, which it cannot do based only on the
PSR. He based his argument on United Sates v. Hopper,
177 F.3d 824 (9" Cir. 1999). Hopper also involved a
defendant whose sentence was being enhanced due to his
previous violent crime. Hopper held, when a sentencing
enhancement has a severe effect on the sentencerelative to
the offense of conviction, the government must satisfy the
“clear and convincing” standard, rather than the usual
“preponderance of the evidence” standard.

In its December, 1999, opinion, the Ninth Circuit failed to
state whether Romero-Rendon’ s sixteen level enhancement
had triggered the clear and convincing standard and, if so,
whether the PSR constituted clear and convincing evidence
of Romero-Rendon’s previous violent crime. Rather, the
Ninth Circuit distinguished Hopper on the basis Romero-
Rendon, unlike the defendant in Hopper, had never alleged




the PSR was inaccurate or challenged the PSR’s
characterization of hispreviouscrimeasviolent. TheNinth
Circuit held, where a defendant does not challenge the
accuracy of the information on which the judge bases the
sentence enhancement, a preponderance of the evidenceis
the appropriate standard, regardless of the severity of the
enhancement.

In its July, 2000, opinion, the Ninth Circuit modified its
December, 1999, opinion by stating the PSR did, in fact,
constitute clear and convincing evidence of Romero-
Rendon’ s previousviolent crime. The Ninth Circuit began
by referencing its previous holding in United Sates v.
Marin-Cuevas, 147 F.3d 889 (9" Cir. 1998), that a PSR
whose accuracy is unchallenged may be relied upon to
prove the defendant’s previous violent crime by a
preponderance of the evidence. The Ninth Circuit noted
uncertainty existed as to when the clear and convincing
standard istriggered. The court, however, found it did not
need to resolve the conflict over when the clear and
convincing standard is triggered since Marin-Cuevas did
not limit its holding to instances in which the proposed
enhancement is not severe. The Ninth Circuit held, aPSR
whose accuracy is unchallenged constitutes clear and
convincing evidence of the defendant’s previous violent
crime.

Government Bears Burden at
Sentencing to Prove Tax L oss

InUnited Statesv. Tucker, 217 F.3d 960 (8" Cir. 2000), the
Eighth Circuit reversed the district court’ srestitution order
and remanded the case for resentencing. Tucker plead
guilty to conspiracy to defraud the United States by
impeding the assessment and collection of income tax in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. In a series of complicated
transactions involving 26 U.S.C. § 1374, Tucker and a co-
conspirator effectively eliminated acorporatelevel tax their
company would have paid on the substantial capital gain
realized on the sale of company assets actually and
fraudulently sold by Tucker.

At sentencing, the district court ordered Tucker to present
his evidence of the tax loss first and then rejected his loss
theory as a matter of law. As this obviated the need for
government rebuttal, thegovernment presented no evidence
of the actual loss to the government. The government
instead relied on the tax loss calculation contained in the
presentence report and the cross-examination of Tucker's
witness. Thedistrict court based itsrestitution order on the
amount of loss contained in the presentence report.

TheEighth Circuit reversed therestitution order holding the
government failed to meet its burden to present affirmative
evidence, at sentencing, of thetax loss. The Eighth Circuit,
following its holdings in prior cases, stated that the
presentence report was not evidence and the actual loss as
determined in the presentence report could not be upheld.
Further, the court stated the government had the burden to
prove fact-intensive issues such as tax loss by a
preponderance of the evidence. Finding the government
failed to meet this burden, but finding the government was
entitled to a new sentencing hearing on remand to present
its loss theory, the court remanded for resentencing.

Extraterritorial Loss Included When Crime
Of Conviction IsAgainst United States

In United States v. Chmielewski, 218 F.3d 840 (8" Cir.
2000), asfactually set forth on pagetwo of thisBulletin, the
Eighth Circuit affirmed Chmielewski’s conviction and
sentence. Chmielewski argued the district court erred by
enhancing his sentence based on loss of dutiesto the South
African government.

In affirming Chmielewski’s sentence, the Eighth Circuit
found Chmielewski’ s false statements were domestic acts
and the crime charged was a crime against the United
States. Therefore, the principle that extraterritorial acts
which are not crimes against the United States cannot be
included in determining the offense level, did not apply in
this case. Further, the Eighth Circuit found there was no
intrusion into foreign jurisdictions when the severity of
Chmielewski’s domestic crime was gauged by measuring
the damage done to his extraterritorial victims.

Sentencing Under Money Laundering
Guidelinesand Two L evel Enhancement
for Leadership Role

United Statesv. Cefaratti, 221 F.3d 502 (3" Cir. 2000), as
factually set forth on page five of this Bulletin, the Third
Circuit affirmed Cefaratti’ s conviction and sentence of 51
months imprisonment and a two year period of supervised
release. Cefaratti argued the district court erred by
calculating his sentence using the money laundering
guidelinesrather than thefraud guidelinesand by enhancing
his sentence two levels under U.S.S.G. § 381.1(c) for a
leadership role in the offenses.

First, Cefaratti argued hiswas an atypical caseinwhichthe
guidelinesectionindicated for the statute of conviction, i.e.,
money laundering, wasinappropriate. Heargued he should
have been sentenced under U.S.S.G. § 2F1.1, the fraud




guideline because his conduct did not involve large scale
drug trafficking or organized crime and his conduct as a
whole was little more than routine fraud to which the
money laundering wasincidental. In affirming Cefaratti’s
sentence, the Third Circuit decided nothing in its prior
decisions suggested the money laundering guidelines,
U.S.S.G. 88 2S1.1 and 2S1.2, could be used only for
defendantswho had engaged in large scale drug trafficking
or organized crime. Further, the court pointed out it had
applied the money laundering sections in situations
involving conduct similar to Cefaratti’'s and had not
questioned the propriety of that application of the
guidelines. The court found Cefaratti used criminally
derived property to promote further fraud, thusit could not
say such conduct was minimal incidental to the underlying
fraud.

Second, Cefaratti argued when counts are grouped under
the guidelines, a defendant’s sentence is based on the
highest offense level of the countsin the group, in hiscase,
the 18 U.S.C. § 1957 charge. Cefaratti argued, therefore,
even if he had been a leader in the fraud, he played no
leadership role in the money laundering and the offense
level applicable to the fraud count, even when adjusted for
the leadership role, would have been less than that of the
unadjusted 18 U.S.C. § 1957 offense. The court pointed to
the guidelinesin stating the determination of a defendant’s
rolein the offenseis to be made on the basis of all conduct
withinthescopeof U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3(relevant conduct) and
not solely on the basis of elements and acts cited in the
count of conviction. Further, the Third Circuit found even
if Cefaratti was correct and the court should have
determined the applicability of the adjustment before
grouping, there was sufficient evidence to support a
leadership adjustment on both the fraud and the money
laundering counts.
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